Filed 10-24-2024

FILED 10-24-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No(s). 21 AP 1543, 22 AP 307

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SAMUEL G. SHARPE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM P. NERO Attorney at Law State Bar No. 1097720

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

NERO DUI DEFENSE, S.C.

130 South Barstow Street, Ste. 2E
Eau Claire, Wisconsin 54701
(715) 318-7000
(715) 850-9255 (fax)
adam@neroduidefense.com

INTRODUCTION

Samuel G. Sharpe petitions this Court to review the court of appeals' decision in *State v. Sharpe*, 2024 WI App ____. (Pet-App. 4.) The court of appeals' opinion was decided by a single judge pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2) and was therefore unpublished. (*Id.*)

Following acquittal by jury in the companion criminal OWI prosecution,¹ the circuit court held a refusal hearing, ultimately ruling against Sharpe and entering judgment under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(10)(a) for Mr. Sharpe's refusal to permit an evidentiary breath test. (R. 55; Pet-App. 94.)

Ignition interlock device ("IID") orders are mandatory consequences of refusal adjudications. Wis. Stat. § 343.301(1g)(a)1. Thus, following adjudication in the refusal, Sharpe filed a motion challenging the constitutionality of 2017 Wisconsin Act 124's ("the Act") amendment of the IID statute. (R. 89; Pet-App 119.) In short, the basis for Sharpe's motion is that the new IID statute creates a *lifetime* IID restriction ... *but only for out-of-state residents*. Wisconsin residents, on the other hand, enjoy the opportunity to rid themselves of the restriction. (*Id*.)

This disparate treatment occurs because with 2017 Wisconsin Act 124 ("the Act"), the Wisconsin

 $^{^{1}}$ St. Croix County case number 19CT92 is not a subject of this appeal due to judgment of acquittal therein.

legislature amended Wisconsin Statutes secs. 343.301(2m)(a), 347.413(1), and 347.50(1t). Prior to the Act, an IID restriction began on the date that the DOT issued an operator's license. See 2017 Wis. Act 124 (containing the prior version of the statute, which provided, "the court shall restrict the operating privilege . . . beginning on the date the department issues any license granted under this chapter.") (emphasis added).

However, after this amendment, IID restrictions begin "on the date the order . . . is issued." Wis. Stat. § 343.301(2m), and time does not begin to count against the 12 – or however many – months are ordered by the court for the length of the restriction. Wis. Stat. § 343.301(2m)(a) ("If the court enters an [IID] order ... the restriction ... shall ... extend for a period of not less than one year.").

Put another way, IID restrictions previously began upon re-licensure. Now, the IID restrictions begin *immediately* after conviction but the length of the IID restriction ordered by the court ("not less than one year") does not even begin to run until the Department issues a driver's license. If a license is not, or in the case of an out-of-state driver, cannot be issued by the Department, the time on the IID order never starts to run. Whatever the length of the IID order, an out-of-state driver can never satisfy the order.

The State acknowledges that out-of-state residents are subject to a lifetime IID restriction. (Resp. Br. At 15.; Sept. 12, 2022.) However, the State

also argues, without meaningful explanation, that the practice constitutes "equal treatment." (*Id.* at 16.) Also following scant discussion, the court of appeals reached the same conclusion. (Pet-App. 21.)

Sharpe therefore petitions this Court for review and relief from the discriminatory (facially and asapplied) lifetime IID restriction imposed upon him. Wisconsin residents are afforded the opportunity to obtain "a license granted under this chapter," but Sharpe, as a Minnesota resident, is not. He is forever burdened with the IID restriction, where a Wisconsin driver is only so burdened should they sleep on their right to obtain a license following an OWI conviction.

The issue is ripe as a matter of law, that is, by simple operation of statute. Mr. Sharpe has suffered harm because he is already subject to a lifetime IID order. The similarly situated Wisconsin driver, on the other hand, would know the date by which he or she would be eligible for (1) reinstatement, and therefore (2) satisfaction of the IID order.

"Forever" and "limited/defined" are different. They are not equal. One is more burdensome than the other; thus, the IID statute needs this Court's intervention.

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. WHETHER THE IGNITION INTERLOCK STATUTORY SCHEME DISCRIMINATES **OUT-OF-STATE** AGAINST **ECONOMIC** INTERESTS IT **IMPOSES** WHERE А LIFETIME RESTRICTION ONLY AGAINST **OUT-OF-STATE DRIVERS.**

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

This case warrants review because it satisfies the criteria set forth in Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r).

First, review is appropriate because real and significant questions of federal or state constitutional law are presented. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(a). This case offers this Court the opportunity to decide whether 2017 Wisconsin Act 124's alterations to Wis. Stat. §§ 343.301(2m)(a), 347.413(1), and 347.50(1t) violate the Dormant Commerce Clause by imposing a lifetime IID restriction on out-of-state drivers, while offering Wisconsin drivers the special chance to rid themselves of the restriction.

Second, the question presented is novel and has statewide impact. The court of appeals disposed of this issue of first impression by dodging it entirely with misapplication of the ripeness doctrine. The question raised in this petition requires an answer. No case has addressed the (likely unintended) impacts of 2017 Wisconsin Act 124's creation of a lifetime IID restriction for out-of-state residents. Finally, this is a legal rather than factual question that is likely, and even certain, to recur unless resolved by this Court. Each time an out-ofstate driver is convicted of an OWI calling for an IID order, that driver's rights are violated. This is a common, likely daily occurrence in desperate need of a solution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 16, 2019, Sharpe was issued a Notice of Intent to Revoke Operating Privilege. Sharpe, by counsel, timely demanded a refusal hearing on February 26, 2019. The circuit court held a refusal hearing on February 12, 2021, and, after briefing, ruled in favor of the State.

Following adjudication on the refusal, the circuit court entered a conviction status report ("CSR") with the Wisconsin Department of Transportation ("DOT") on August 18, 2021, which ordered an ignition interlock device ("IID") restriction for 12 months.

On September 7, 2021, Sharpe filed a motion with the circuit court challenging the constitutionality of the IID order and the underlying statute. Sharpe argued the statutory scheme under Wis. Stat. § 343.301(2m)(a) is unconstitutional because it fails to provide a means for an out-of-state resident to terminate an IID order. Put another way, for out-ofstate residents, a Wisconsin IID order is for life, even where, as here, the circuit court orders it only for 12 months. This is because the IID restriction shall "extend for a period of not less than one year *after the date the department issues any license granted under this chapter*." Wis. Stat. § 343.301(2m)(a) (emphasis added). Sharpe cannot ever rid himself of the IID restriction because, as a Minnesota resident, he is not eligible for a Wisconsin driver's license. *See* Wis. Stat. § 343.06(1)(k) (prohibiting the DOT from issuing a license to a nonresident).

After briefing, the circuit court denied Sharpe's motion. The facial challenge to Wisconsin's IID statutes failed because, according to the circuit court, Sharpe did not "show that Wisconsin's IID law is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." The court said that it "agrees with the State's equally plausible argument that the IID restrictions required for individuals convicted of certain OWI offenses in Wisconsin apply equally to residents both inside and outside of Wisconsin and that the statute therefore passes constitutional muster."

The court noted that Sharpe's challenge "has some initial appeal in terms of its unconstitutionality." However, noting that courts are required to "indulge every presumption favoring constitutionality," the circuit court concluded that the IID restrictions apply equally to residents and nonresidents. The court did not explain the basis for this conclusion aside from expressing its position that the law "furthered a purpose identified by the legislature."

Page 11 of 22

Of course, Sharpe did not raise a rational-basis or strict-scrutiny-type argument where the issue is whether the law advances a compelling government interest. Rather, Sharpe raised a challenge based upon a Dormant Commerce Clause theory about disparate treatment of in-state and out-of-state drivers. The circuit court proclaimed that Sharpe "should [not] enjoy more protections under the statute than Wisconsin residents because he is an out-of-state resident." However, the circuit court did not explain how Sharpe would enjoy "more protections" if the statute were struck down facially and thus made inapplicable to all. Nor did the circuit court address the reality that Sharpe would forever need to drive in Wisconsin with an IID installed.

The court of appeals materially echoed the circuit court's reasoning, which was not responsive to the arguments and issues herein. Thus, Sharpe now petitions this Court for review.

ARGUMENT

I. The new IID statute imposes a lifetime restriction only upon out-of-state drivers while allowing Wisconsin citizens the opportunity to satisfy such an order.

The United States Supreme Court gave the commerce power its initial interpretation in *Gibbons v. Ogden*, 22 U.S. 1 (1824), whereby it outlined the contours of the terms "commerce" and "among the

several states." The Court took a broad view of this power, recognizing that while states undoubtedly possess the ability to regulate their internal affairs, commerce is best defined as "intercourse between ... parts of nations ... and is regulated by prescribing rules for carrying on that intercourse." *Id.* at 190. The Court further resolved that the broad definition of commerce included navigation and other forms of commercial intercourse that is "intermingled with" the states. *Id.* at 189–90.

Cementing this view of the Commerce Clause's breadth, the Court has interpreted the grant of power to Congress in the Commerce Clause as implying a "dormant" or negative aspect, see *Northwest Airlines, Inc. v. Wisconsin Dept. of Revenue*, 2006 WI 88, ¶ 27, 293 Wis. 2d 202, 717 N.W.2d 280, thereby limiting the ability of states to enact regulations that either "discriminate against," *City of Philadelphia v. New Jersey*, 437 U.S. 617, 628 (1978), or impose an "undue burden," *Dean Milk Co. v. City of Madison*, 340 U.S. 349, 353 (1951), on interstate commerce.

This legal doctrine serves as a self-executing limitation on state power to regulate interstate commerce and is held to apply even when Congress has not acted or when no preemption is found. *Hunt v. Wash. Apple Adver. Comm'n*, 432 U.S. 333, 350 (1977) (maintaining that the Commerce Clause itself is "a limitation upon state power even without congressional implementation").

Under the Dormant Commerce Clause, courts "protect [] the free flow of commerce, and thereby safeguard∏ Congress' latent power from encroachment by the several States []' when Congress has not affirmatively exercised its Commerce Clause power." Northwest Airlines, Inc., 2006 WI 88 at ¶ 27 (citation omitted). Accordingly, the Dormant Commerce Clause is the idea that courts must invalidate state laws for running afoul of the Commerce Clause or the limiting principles implied from it.

Ultimately, this restriction upon states prohibits "regulatory measures designed to benefit in-state economic interests by burdening out-of-state competitors." Fulton Corp. v. Faulkner, 516 U.S. 330 (1996).If a challenged state 325.law discriminates, either on its face or in purpose or *effect*, against out-of-state drivers, the law is per se invalid under the Dormant Commerce Clause. Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc., 397 U.S. 137, 142 (1970); see also Granholm v. Heald, 544 U.S. 460, 476 (2005) ("State laws that discriminate against interstate commerce face a virtually per se rule of invalidity.")

"Even when no discrimination is evident on the face of a state provision, it may violate the Dormant Commerce Clause if its effects discriminate against non-residents." *Saban Rent-A-Car, LLC v. Arizona Dep't of Revenue*, 244 Ariz. 293, 304, 418 P.3d 1066, 1077 (Ct. App. 2018), aff'd, 246 Ariz. 89, 434 P.3d 1168 (2019).

In this context, "discrimination' simply means differential treatment of in-state and out-of-state economic interests that benefits the former and burdens Systems, Inc. the latter." Oregon Waste v. **Department of Environmental Quality of Ore.**, 511 U.S. 93, 99 (1994); New Energy Co. of Ind. v. Limbach, 486 U.S. 269, 273 (1988). The key component to the notion of "discrimination" therefore rests on а comparison of in-state or in-region benefits and burdens with out-of-state or out of-region benefits and burdens. See, e.g., Bacchus Imports, Ltd. v. Dias, 468 U.S. 263, 273 (1984) ("A discrimination claim, by its nature, requires a comparison of the two classifications...").

A well-intended regulation might easily and unintentionally "favor in-state economic interests over out-of-state interests" after the benefits and burdens of the regulation are compared. **Oregon Waste Sys., Inc.**, 511 U.S. at 99. Such a regulation will in fact "discriminate" against interstate commerce, even if that was not the goal of the local legislature.7 See, e.g., Associated Indus. of **Missouri v. Lohman**, 511 U.S. 641, 653 (1994) ("[C]ourt need not inquire into the purpose or motivation behind a law to determine that in actuality it impermissibly discriminates against interstate commerce").

Once a state law is found to discriminate against out-of-state commerce, it is generally struck down without further inquiry. *See Chem. Waste Mgmt., Inc. v. Hunt*, 504 U.S. 334, 342 (1992).

In this case, the court of appeals disposed of the facial challenge by claiming without legal support that the IID "requirement applies to both in-state and outof-state drivers." Of course, Sharpe has agreed in both lower courts that the restriction applies to both classes of drivers. The very simple problem concerns *how they apply* to each class, disparately and respectively. Outof-state drivers are restricted forever; Wisconsin drivers are restricted for a defined period of time.

"Forever" is not the same as, for example, "12 months from relicensure." To the extent that either the circuit court or court of appeals engaged in a process of logical decision-making on this issue of "equality" or "sameness," the logic is inherently flawed and thus calls for this Court's attention, given the novelty and statewide impact of the issue.

Moreover, in reaching its conclusion on the facial challenge, the court of appeals reasoned – well aside from the point – that "an IID restriction imposed by a Wisconsin court on an out-of-state driver does not prohibit that person from obtaining or maintaining a driver's license in another state." (Pet-App. 21.) Nothing about this issue concerns a person's ability to obtain a driver's license or operating privilege in Wisconsin or in any other state. Rather, of course, this case is about the *discriminatory burdens placed upon the use of those privilege as to both in- and out-of-state drivers*.

The court of appeals further reasoned: "For both in-state and out-of-state drivers, the IID restriction

begins on the date the court issues its order, and *the* restriction lasts for a given time period after the person has been issued a Wisconsin driver's license by the DOT" – a sentence which generously makes Sharpe's argument for him. (Pet-App. 21.)

This is because for out-of-state drivers, the length of the order is not "given." ² The word "given" means "particular" or "specified." That is the problem with this law. For out-of-state drivers, the period of time is not particular or specified; therefore, it is not "given." Wisconsin drivers, on the other hand, enjoy the right.

The State's repeated suggestions that out-ofstate drivers enjoy a more lenient outcome lack arguable merit.

Out-of-state drivers will never be "issued a Wisconsin driver's license." Therefore, the "given time period" is not *given* at all. Rather, it is an undefined, indefinite, and indeterminate; that is, the person's lifetime. That is not what "equality" means.

Next, the court of appeals disposed of the asapplied challenge by claiming without legal support that the "circuit court's IID order permits Sharpe to drive in this state provided that the has a valid driver's license and has an IID installed in his vehicle. These

² Given, adj. Merriam-Webster "Particular, specified," "at a given time." (https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/given, last accessed October 24, 2024) (emphasis added).

are the same restrictions that an IID order under § 343.301 would impose on an in-state driver."

The constitutional infirmity, of course, concerns the differing lengths of time for which they would do so. Wisconsin drivers' privileges would be so restricted for a defined length of time. Sharpe's operating privilege is so restricted *forever*. Neither the circuit court nor court of appeals explained how "12 months from relicensure" is the same as "forever," as such an explanation would be impossible to articulate.

The circuit court noted that Sharpe's challenge "has some initial appeal in terms of its unconstitutionality." However, noting that courts are required to "indulge every presumption favoring constitutionality," the circuit court concluded that the IID restrictions apply equally to residents and nonresidents.

The court did not explain the basis for this conclusion aside from expressing its position that the law "furthered a purpose identified by the legislature." Of course, Sharpe did not raise a rational-basis or strict-scrutiny-type issue where the issue embraces whether the law advances a government interest. Rather, Sharpe raised a challenge based upon a Dormant Commerce Clause theory about disparate treatment of in-state and out-of-state drivers. The circuit court proclaimed that Sharpe "should [not] enjoy more protections under the statute than Wisconsin residents because he is an out-of-state resident." However, the circuit court did not explain how Sharpe would enjoy "more protections" if the statute were struck down facially and thus made inapplicable to all. Nor did the circuit court address the reality that Sharpe would always need to drive in Wisconsin with an IID installed.

The court of appeals disposed of the facial challenge by claiming without legal support that the IID "requirement applies to both in-state and out-ofstate drivers." Of course, Sharpe has agreed in both lower courts that the restriction applies to both classes of drivers. However, the simple issue is that the Dormant Commerce Clause argument concerns the different ways that it applies to out-of-state drivers (whose privileges are restricted forever) and in-state drivers (whose privileges are affected for a defined period of time following relicensure). Forever is not the same as, for example, 12 months from relicensure. To the extent that either the circuit court or court of appeals engaged in a process of logical decisionmaking on this issue of "equality" or "sameness," that logic is difficult to follow and the issue wants for this Court's clarification.

However, in reaching this conclusion on the facial challenge, the court of appeals reasoned, again, well aside from the point, that "an IID restriction imposed by a Wisconsin court on an out-of-state driver does not prohibit that person from obtaining or maintaining a driver's license in another state." (Pet-App. 21.) Nothing about this case concerns a person's ability to obtain a driver's license or operating privilege in Wisconsin or in any other state. Rather, of

course, this case is about the *restriction* that attaches to the use of those privileges.

The court of appeals further reasoned that "For both in-state and out-of-state drivers, the IID restriction begins on the date the court issues its order, and the restriction lasts for a given time period after the person has been issued a Wisconsin driver's license by the DOT." (Pet-App. 21.)

That sentence concisely proves Sharpe's point.

Out-of-state drivers will never be "issued a Wisconsin driver's license." Therefore, the "given time period" is not given at all. Rather, it is an undefined, indefinite, and indeterminate; that is, the person's lifetime. That is not what "equality" means.

Next, the court of appeals disposed of the asapplied challenge by claiming without legal support that the "circuit court's IID order permits Sharpe to drive in this state provided that the has a valid driver's license and has an IID installed in his vehicle. These are the same restrictions that an IID order under § 343.301 would impose on an in-state driver."

The constitutional infirmity, of course, concerns the differing lengths of time for which they would do so. Wisconsin drivers' privileges would be so restricted for a defined length of time. Sharpe's operating privilege is so restricted *forever*. Neither the circuit court nor court of appeals explained how "12 months from relicensure" is the same as "forever," as such an explanation would be impossible to articulate. To prevent irreparable harm, Sharpe asked the circuit court to stay the operating-privilege revocation, ignition interlock order, and other penalties pending appeal. The court granted that request over the State's objection.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Samuel G. Sharpe petitions this Court to accept review of the court of appeals' decision in these matters.