Filed 11-22-2024

FILED 11-22-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Nos. 2021AP1543 & 2022AP307

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SAMUEL G. SHARPE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-3519 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) blimlingja@doj.state.wi.us

INTRODUCTION

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner Samuel G. Sharpe is a Minnesota resident who refused to consent to a chemical test of his breath for alcohol during a traffic stop. Consistent with Wisconsin's statutes concerning all breath refusals, the court hearing Sharpe's case imposed an ignition interlock restriction restricting Sharpe's operating privilege in Wisconsin to vehicles with an ignition interlock device (IID) installed. Sharpe complained that this restriction violates the Constitution because, as a Minnesota resident, he is ineligible a Wisconsin driver's license, the for issuance (or reinstatement) of which is a necessary condition for the IID restriction to eventually be lifted. Sharpe argued, in effect, that Wisconsin's statutes treat him differently because he is an out-of-state resident. The courts below disagreed, so Sharpe now asks this Court to take his case and consider the issue.

This Court should decline Sharpe's request for two main reasons. First, the issue is not yet ripe. There is nothing in the record to indicate that Sharpe had installed an IID in any vehicle for any period, much less for the period required by the IID order, when he sought the lifting of the restriction. Sharpe was thus not treated differently than any Wisconsin citizen when the court denied his order. It would be premature for this Court to weigh in on a legal issue that Sharpe believes will occur in the future. Second, contrary to Sharpe's argument, the IID statute does not treat out-of-state residents any differently than Wisconsin residents. In fact, the statute is entirely neutral as to a driver's state of residence. That several statutes, taken together, might combine to have a greater impact on an out-of-state resident than a Wisconsin resident does not violate the Constitution. Settled principles related to the Dormant Commerce Clause dictate this conclusion, so further review by this Court is unnecessary.

REASONS FOR DENYING THE PETITION

I. Sharpe's as-applied challenge is not ripe.

Wisconsin courts do not issue "advisory opinions" on unripe claims involving "hypothetical or future facts." *State v. Armstead*, 220 Wis. 2d 626, 631, 583 N.W.2d 444 (Ct. App. 1998). *See also Tammi v. Porsche Cars N. Am., Inc.*, 2009 WI 83, ¶ 3, 320 Wis. 2d 45, 768 N.W.2d 783; *City of Janesville v. Rock Cnty.*, 107 Wis. 2d 187, 199, 319 N.W.2d 891 (Ct. App. 1982). The court of appeals adhered to this rule when it affirmed the circuit court's ruling in this case. *See Matter of Sharpe*, Nos. 2021AP1543 & 2022AP307, 2024 WL 4274364, ¶ 39 (Wis. Ct. App. Sept. 24, 2024) (unpublished). As it properly explained, Sharpe has not established that he has yet been treated differently because he has not shown that he has had an IID installed for a period that would allow a Wisconsin resident to have the restriction lifted. Any different treatment at this point is only theoretical.

Sharpe nevertheless contends that the issue is ripe "because he is already subject to a lifetime IID order." (Pet. 7.) That is not correct. Sharpe is subject to a 12-month IID restriction. (R. 72:1.)¹ That he may prove unable to have the restriction lifted at some point in the future because he does not hold a Wisconsin driver's license is the type of "future fact" *Armstead* cautions against courts using as the basis for resolution of a case. Sharpe also compares himself to a "similarly situated Wisconsin driver," who "would know the date by which he or she would be eligible for" reinstatement of their operating privilege and satisfaction of the IID restriction. (Pet. 7.) Again, however, the IID restriction is clear on its face. No information is being withheld from Sharpe about the restriction—certainly none on account of his

 $^{^1}$ Citations to (R. ##:##) are to the record in 2021AP1543 unless otherwise indicated.

state of residence—he is just displeased with the result of the restriction and the possibility that it will be impractical for him to have the restriction lifted in the future. That displeasure, however, does not warrant this Court's review. Granting the petition would likely draw this Court into issuing an advisory opinion. It should decline to do so.

II. The lower courts correctly applied the law.

Even if the controversy presented by this case were ripe, this Court's review still would be unnecessary because the court of appeals reached the correct result: the statutory scheme does not violate the Dormant Commerce Clause.

The concept of the Dormant Commerce Clause holds "that state laws offend the Commerce Clause when they seek to 'build up . . . domestic commerce' through 'burdens upon the industry and business of other States,' regardless of whether Congress has spoken." *Nat'l Pork Producers Council v. Ross*, 598 U.S. 356, 369 (2023) (quoting *Guy v. Baltimore*, 100 U.S. 434, 443 (1880)). In more recent formulations, the Supreme Court has explained "that the Commerce Clause prohibits the enforcement of state laws 'driven by . . . "economic protectionism—that is, regulatory measures designed to benefit in-state economic interests by burdening out-of-state competitors."" *Ross*, 598 U.S. at 369 (citing *Department of Revenue of Ky. v. Davis*, 553 U.S. 328, 337–38 (2008)).

Simply put, Sharpe has not—and cannot—establish that Wisconsin's statutory scheme for the imposition of IID restrictions is "driven by economic protectionism." To the contrary, as the State explained below, the current structure of the statutory scheme was designed to close a loophole that allowed individuals to escape any IID requirement whatsoever by simply "waiting out" the restriction period before applying for license reinstatement. (R. 146:5.) Far from being driven by economic protectionism, the scheme is driven by the goal of ensuring roadway safety. It applies to everyone equally, and it applies only within Wisconsin's borders. *Cf. Morley-Murphy Co. v. Zenith Elecs. Corp.*, 142 F.3d 373, 379 (7th Cir. 1998) (Dormant Commerce Clause might be implicated if Wisconsin's Fair Dealership Law "were construed to apply extraterritorially").

Sharpe attempts to flatten the Dormant Commerce Clause into the idea that any statutory scheme that might have any conceivable disparate impact on a non-resident is constitutionally void. Adopting his view would require this Court to ignore two hundred years of Supreme Court precedent tethering the Dormant Commerce Clause to its roots in concerns of economic protectionism. Notably, Sharpe offers no case from any jurisdiction to support the idea that an IID restriction of the sort at issue in this case implicates the Dormant Commerce Clause. Instead, he takes it as a given that because he can articulate a conceivable disparate effect of the statutory scheme on non-residents, it must impact commerce. He thus attempts to stretch the Dormant Commerce Clause beyond its breaking point while offering no compelling reason for this Court to take up his cause.

The regulation of driving and drivers has been around since the dawn of the automobile. Over one hundred years ago, the Supreme Court rejected the idea that such regulations burden interstate commerce:

In the absence of national legislation covering the subject, a state may rightfully prescribe uniform regulations necessary for public safety and order in respect to the operation upon its highways of all motor vehicles,-those moving in interstate commerce as well as others. And to this end it may require the registration of such vehicles and the licensing of their drivers, charging therefor reasonable fees graduated according to the horse-power of the engines,-a practical measure of size, speed, and difficulty of control. This is but an exercise of the police power uniformly recognized as belonging to the states and essential to the preservation of the health, safety, and comfort of their citizens; and it does not constitute a direct and material burden on interstate commerce.

Hendrick v. State of Maryland, 235 U.S. 610, 622 (1915). Wisconsin's statutory scheme related to IID restrictions is no different: it does not constitute a direct and material burden on interstate commerce, and so it does not offend the Commerce Clause. There is no need for this Court to address the question further.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed, this Court should deny Sharpe's petition for review.